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A German Maunch by Arnold Rabbow 
The maunch is a common charge in British heraldry, but 
virtually unknown in Germany. Therefore I was delighted 
to introduce or rather revive it in German civic heraldry 

when an opportunity arose. 
Gross Biewende is a village in 
the Landkreis (county) of 
Wolfenbuttel in Lower 
Saxony, not far from 
Brunswick. When I was 
commissioned to design a coat 
of arms for it, I found out that 
a heraldic maunch, even three 
maunches, had indeed existed 

in this area 700 years ago. I found them in the seals of 
the lords of Biewende who flourished between 1118 
and 1311. They managed to establish an independent 
albeit tiny territory within the Holy Roman Empire, of 
which Gross Biewende was the "capital". 
Their small state, comprising but half a dozen villages, 
was almost completely surrounded by the Guelph lands, 
i.e. the Duchy of Brunswick. Of course the powerful 
dukes were eager to annex the small enclave to their 
lands, but the lords of Biewende sided with the 
Hohenstaufen emperors against the Guelphs and thus 
managed to keep the dukes at bay. When however, the 
Hohenstaufen dynasty collapsed in 1254, the lords of 
Biewende were left without their allies, and after several 
years of warring they were defeated, went into exile and 
became extinct in 1311. 
Although the villagers of Gross Biewende were aware 
of the interesting history of their village, they had never 
seen the seals which are kept in the state archive at 
Wolfenbuttel and of course they were at first not at all 
familiar with the maunch. 
When, however, it was explained to them that this was a 
fashionable part of women's apparel in the middle ages, 
in fact a sleeve that served also as a kind of handbag, 
and would make a charming coat of arms unparalleled in 
German civic heraldry, they started to like the idea. 
Happily, it also coincided with present-day political 
correctness as it would advance the female aspect in 
public life by adding a little more female touch to the 
otherwise rather masculine art of heraldry. Of course, it 
would not have been appropriate to use all three 
maunches, but along the lines of "pars pro toto" a single 
maunch fitted into the shield even better. 
The place name of Biewende is derived from the ancient 

Germanic word "biunda" meaning a piece of land 
surrounded by a fence or a hedge. Therefore the main 
shield was set within a bordure, also denoting the 
"frontier" around the erstwhile territory of the lords of 
Biewende. 
The bordure is charged with linden leaves. Linden-trees 
are very popular in German folklore, serving as romantic 
meeting-places for young lovers in the old days, but also 
marking locations where public meetings and open-air 
courts were held and where justice was administered. In 
Gross Biewende a couple of very old linden-trees, a real 
land-mark, have happily survived. In addition, another 
medieval local family, the Spirings, had used a young 
linden-tree as armorial device on their seals. Since the 
arms of the lords of Biewende as well as the Spiring 
arms have survived only on seals, their tinctures are not 
known. Therefore, the colours green and gold, 
representing pastures and cornfields, were chosen, 
because the village's economy is largely dominated by 
agriculture. 

Germany, unlike Britain, lacks central institutions to 
oversee public heraldry. In some states the state 
archives exercise a certain degree of control; however 
Lower Saxony, like some other states, have through 
recent legislation abolished this function. On the one 
hand, this could be regarded as a step towards more 
democracy because civic bodies are now free to assume 
arms. On the other hand, it will probably lead to a 
deterioration of heraldic standards in civic heraldry, 
because town or village councils can now assume 
whatever arms they like, regardless of expert advice. In 
villages that have been integrated into larger civic 
entities and do not have councils any longer, the 
population at large can decide about a coat of arms. 
That is what happened in Gross Biewende. On 10th May 
2001 the inhabitants voted almost unanimously for Vert 
a maunch with outstretched palm Or, surrounded by a 
bordure Or charged with linden-leaves Vert, their tips 
pointing outwards. Not much later the villagers erected 
large signs with their arms at all roads entering Gross 
Biewende to demonstrate that their village, although 
technically not a civic entity any more, is still a village of 
its own and just as alive as it was seven centuries ago. 

(Arnold sent us a copy of the arms described above and, when 
we asked about them, this article was the result. We note his 
continuing interest in Seaxe and are grateful to him for 
allowing us to publish the story of his involvement in designing 
the arms of Cross Biewende - Eds). 



Militaria N o . 3 2 - The Sherwood Foresters 
(Nottinghamshire and Derbysbire Regiment) 

by Colonel lain Swinnerton 
In Buckingham in 1741, Colonel David Houghton raised a 
regiment of Foot which was sent straight to Gibraltar. 
From there it went to America where it remained for 
many years, not returning home until 1766. It was 
numbered 45th in 1748. Ten years later it was back in 
America to fight in the War of Independence and when it 
finally returned twelve years later was down to just 100 
men. In 1799, at the request of the local gentry who 

promised funds, the regiment 
was given the name of the 
Nottinghamshire Regiment 
and ordered to recruit there. It 
performed very gallant service 
in the Peninsular Campaign 
fighting in all the famous 
battles and suffering heavy 
losses so that it was not able to 
go to Waterloo. In 1866 it 

received its second - and probably much better known — 
title of the Sherwood Foresters. 
Its second battalion was originally raised by Colonel Sir 

Cohn Halkett in December 1823 
and numbered the 95th 
(Derbyshire) Foot, inheriting a 
famous number formerly borne 
by the 95th Rifles who for their 
great gallantry were taken out 
of the Line in 1316 and formed 
into the Rifle Brigade. Halkett, 
a very experienced soldier and 

later a General, had commanded Wellington's 5"' Brigade at 
Waterloo. In the ranks were many officers from the old 
95th Rifles and the regiment adopted as its badge, the 
Maltese Cross of that regiment. Starting in Malta and the 
Ionian Islands, they served in Ceylon and China, in the 
Crimea and the Mutiny, finally returning home in 1870. 
In 1881 the Nottinghamshire Regiment (Sherwood 

Foresters) merged with the Derbyshire Regiment to form 
the 1st and 2nd Battalions of the Sherwood Foresters 
(Derbyshire Regiment) which, in deference to the senior 
regiment's origins, was changed in 1902 to the Sherwood 
Foresters (Nottinghamshire and Derbyshire Regiment). 
On 28th February 1970, the Worcestershire Regiment and 
the Sherwood Foresters amalgamated to form the 
Worcestershire and Sherwood Foresters Regiment. 
Soldiers are quick to give names to new regiments and the 
new regiment has , somewhat unfortunately, acquired the 
nickname of The Woofers. The badge is a somewhat 
unhappy combination of the Maltese Cross and Hart of the 
old Sherwood Foresters superimposed on the elongated 
Garter Star of the Worcesters* and the regiment now has 
a ram as a mascot inherited from the old 95th. 

(Extract from "WHAT ARE THEY NOW - The Infantry Part Ten -
April article in FTM) 
*See Seaxe No 39 of February 2002 

The ram mascot is traditionally named Derby and was 
first acquired during the Indian Mutiny. The nicknames of 
the regiment were (45th) The Old Stubboms relating to 
the impressive performance of the regiment in the 
Peninsula War and The Hosiers because of the regiment's 
association with Nottingham, the centre of the British 
hosiery trade and (95th) - The Nails. The motto of the 
regiment was Honi Soit qui Mal y Pense. The Sherwood 
Foresters were the only regiment of the line whose 
officers were permitted to wear service dress uniforms 
made from Guards Barathea - the cloth belt passed over 
the flat third button which was similar to those on blazers 
and not between the the third and fourth uniform 
buttons as is the usual custom. 
The regimental badge of the the Sherwood Foresters is 
described as - a Maltese Cross. Within an oak wreath a 
White Hart left and right the title SHERWOOD FORESTERS, 
all ensigned with the crown. 
The 45th and 95th Regiments have fought in all the 
major theatres of war and the first battle honour earned 
was Louisburg (1758). Among many others the 
Peninsular War added Pyrenees, Nivelle, Talavera, Vittoria, 
Badajoz and Toulouse. From the Crimean War came 
Alma, Inkerman, and Sevastopol. The Regiment, although 
involved in the Indian Mutiny, was awarded only one 
battle honour - that of Indian Mutiny (1857-58) and 
South Africa (1899-1902) for the Boer War. 
From the Great War came Aisnes, Armentieres, Loos, 
Delville Wood, Neuve Chapelle, Ypres, Albert, Cambrai, 
Somme, Arras, Vimy, Messines, Menin Road, 
Passchendaele and Suvla. In WWII the regiment earned 
the battle honours Norway, Dunkirk, El Alamein, Tunis, 
Salerno, Anzio, Gothic Line, Monte Casino, Singapore 
Island, North West Europe, and Malaya. 
The Victoria Cross has been won by fourteen members 
of the regiment - the first was awarded to Private B. 
McQuirt in the Indian Mutiny on 6th January 1858.. One 
in the Tirah Campaign and two in the Boer War. Nine in 
the Great War and one in WWII.. Probably the best known 
winner of the V€ was Captain Albert Ball DSO, MC who 
was seconded to the Royal Flying Corps and during the 

course of the Great War shot 
down 43 German aircraft -
on one occasion, flying alone, 
he fought six hostile 
machines. He was shot down 
and killed in May 1917. The 
badge of the RFC is 
described as the letters RFC 
within a wreath and ensigned 
with the Crown. 
The Regimental Headquarters 
are now at Norton Barracks, 

Worcester and the recruitment area is Worcestershire, 
Derbyshire and Nottinghamshire. 

+ + + + + 

More badges of the Regiment are described overleaf :-

? 



95th Foot (Rifles) - a cross patée theron a circular plate 
bearing the numerals 95. 
Cloth Helmet - Officers' Badge 1881-1914. - within the 

universal wreath a 
Maltese cross. On the 
cross an oak leaf 
wreath; within the 
wreath a stag lodged. 
On the left division of 
the cross the word 
The; on the right 
division Regt and on a 
scroll on the lower 
division Derbyshire. 
A scroll of special 
pattern on the bottom 
of the universal wreath 

inscribed Sherwood Foresters. In 1904 the scroll on the 
lower division was altered to read Notts and Derby 
2nd Derbyshire Militia (The Chatsworth Rifles) - Shako-
plate: 1864. In 1881 became 3rd 
Battalion, The Sherwood Foresters 
(Derbyshire Regiment) - a cross 
similar to that of the Order of the 
Bath surmounted by a Victorian 
crown. In the centre of the cross a 
circlet inscribed Derby Militia and 
within this a bugle with the numeral 2 
in the strings. 
Royal Sherwood Foresters or Nottinghamshire Regiment 

of Militia - Shako-plate: 1864 
- In 1881 became 4th 
Battalion. The Sherwood 
Foresters (Nottinghamshire 
Regiment) - an eight pointed 
star, the topmost point 
displaced by by a Victorian 
crown. On the star the 
Garter with Saint George's 
Cross in the centre. Below 
the Garter a scroll inscribed 
Nottingham. 

!st Nottinghamshire (Robin Hood) Rifle Volunteer Corps -
became in 1909 7th (Robin Hood) 
Battalion, The Sherwood Foresters -
a bugle-horn surmounted by a 
Victorian crown with sprays of oak 

joining the bugle to the crown. In the 
curl of the bugle the monogram RH 
entwined and reversed. 
7th Robin Hood Battalion. The Sherwood Foresters 
(Nottinghamshire Regiment) of The Territorial Army 

1914. - a laurel wreath surmounted 
by an Imperial crown. Within this a 
cross based on that of the Order of 
the Bath. On the arms of the cross: 
(left) South (right) Africa, (bottom) 
1900-02. In the centre of the cross a 
circlet inscribed The Robin Hoods 
and in its centre a bugle with 
strings surmounted by a crown.. 

Elizabeth Woodville An Uncommon Commoner by Jonathan Holmes 

When recounting the famous meeting between our 
second foundress Elizabeth Woodville and King Edward 
IV beneath the oak tree near the Woodville family manor 
that led to their clandestine wedding on 1 May 1464, the 
history books almost invariably concentrate on her status 

as a commoner. She 
was indeed the 
daughter of a minor 
noble. Sir Richard 
Woodville, only 
recently created Lord 
Rivers, and she was the 
widow of a knight, Sir 
John Grey, heir to Lord 
and Lady Ferrers de 
Groby, who had been 
killed several years 
earlier at the Battle of 

St Albans. She had two sons, the eldest already 14, so she 
was several years older than Edward, though all agree 
she was a very beautiful woman. The implication, 
certainly shared by many contemporaries, is that she was 
a wholly unsuitable bride for a Plantagenet prince, a 
parvenue and upstart, who somehow entrapped Edward 
through her feminine wiles. In fact, however, she had 
seriously blue blood flowing in her veins and had 
important dynastic links with the royal family itself. She 
was far from an ordinary knight's daughter, a most 
uncommon commoner. 

Fully to appreciate Elizabeth's ancestry it is necessary to 
go back to 1422 and the death at the Chateau de 
Vincennes outside Paris of King Henry V, the victor of 
Agincourt. He left a son, now Henry VI, only 9 months old 
and a widow, Katherine, daughter of Charles VI of 
France. The Regency of France and protectorship passed 
to Henry's younger brother, John, Duke of Bedford. 
Katherine had responsibilities as the King's mother but 
she was cut off from her kin by the ongoing Hundred 
Years War. However, she was young (only 21 at her 
husband's death), independently wealthy, and as Queen 
powerful enough to choose for herself whether or not to 
remarry and if so to whom. And choose she did sometime 
between 1425 and 1428 — a young, handsome Welsh 
squire named Owen Tudor, a man of vastly inferior social 
status. Nowadays words such as "toyboy" and merry 
widow would be bandied about, certainly the scandal was 
very great. When in 1452 Owen and Katherine's eldest 
son Edmund was created Earl of Richmond by his half-
brother, Henry VI, he was described in the Act of 
Parliament as born of the Queen in lawful marriage 
without any mention of his father or the Tudor name. 
Edmund, of course, married Lady Margaret Beaufort 
(later to found Christ's and St John's Colleges) and their 
son was King Henry VII. 

Meanwhile Henry Vl's Protector (and, of course, heir) the 
Duke of Bedford was unmarried. At the age of 33 he 
finally took a bride, Anne of Burgundy, but she died in 
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